UCLA UCLA Electronic Theses and Dissertations

Title

Gene Expression Profiling of Human Mesenchymal Stem Cells for Tissue Engineering

Permalink https://escholarship.org/uc/item/3bh8s7nd

Author Ranganath, Thanmayi

Publication Date 2014

Peer reviewed|Thesis/dissertation

UNIVERSITY OF CALIFORNIA

Los Angeles

Gene Expression Profiling of

Human Mesenchymal Stem Cells for Tissue Engineering

A thesis submitted in partial satisfaction

of the requirements for the degree Master of Science

in Biomedical Engineering

by

Thanmayi Ranganath

ABSTRACT OF THE THESIS

Gene Expression Profiling of

Human Mesenchymal Stem Cells for Tissue Engineering

by

Thanmayi Ranganath

Master of Science in Biomedical Engineering

University of California, Los Angeles, 2014

Professor Andrea M. Kasko, Chair

Tissue engineering is a combination of advanced technologies with a goal to fabricate better materials for the repair or replacement of damaged tissue. This is accomplished with the help of cells, biomaterials, and other physiological and chemical cues. In tissue engineering, human mesenchymal stem cells (hMSCs) have huge potential as they can differentiate into many cell types, reduce immune response, be isolated from adult bone marrow, and are easily available. The present study analyzes the gene expression profile of hMSCs when cultured under different conditions: two-dimensional (2D) versus three-dimensional (3D) culture systems; presence or absence of radicals, and exposure to ultra violet (UV) radiation. In our experiments, cells were cultured on 2D substrates and in 3D hydrogel systems fabricated with and without free-radicals. Total RNA was extracted from cells cultured under each condition and the differential expression of genes was analyzed using the Human U133 plus 2.0 Affymetrix gene chip. We observed that the largest difference in gene expression occurs in cells cultured in 3D as compared to 2D systems. UV radiation did not have a significant effect on gene expression but, when combined with the free-radicals generated during fabrication, significant variations in the hMSC gene expression profile were observed. Therefore, can conclude that, while all three factors (2D vs. 3D, free-radicals, and UV light) can influence the gene expression profile of hMSCs, switching from 2D to 3D cell culture system results in the largest change in gene expression.

The thesis of Thanmayi Ranganath is approved.

Min Lee

Tatiana Segura

Andrea M. Kasko, Committee Chair

University of California, Los Angeles

2014

TABLE OF CONTENTS

1	INTRO	DUCTION
2	BACKC	GROUND
	2.1 Cel	l Culture Conditions
	2.2 Cul	ture System Description7
	2.3 Hu	man Mesenchymal Stem Cells (hMSCs)11
	2.3.1	Background Information
	2.3.2	Reasons For Use
3	MATER	RIALS AND METHODS
	3.1 Ma	terials14
	3.1.1	Chemical Materials
	3.1.2	Biological Materials
	3.2 Me	thods
	3.2.1	Acrylation of PEG4K14
	3.2.2	Human Mesenchymal Stem Cell Culture
	3.2.3	2D cell culture (Day 1) 16
	3.2.4	Encapsulation of hMSCs in PEG Hydrogels (Day 1)16
	3.2.5	UV Exposure Conditions (Day 2)

	3.2.6		RNA Extraction by TRIzol [®] Method and Spin Column Purification (Day 3) 18
	3.2.7		RNA Integrity Analysis by Agilent 2100 Bioanalyzer 19
	3.2.8		Gene Chip Microarray
	3.3	Exp	perimental Flow
4	OP	TIM	IZATION OF SAMPLE SETS
	4.1	2D	Sample Preparation
	4.2	3D	Radical Polymerization
	4.3	Cel	l Density for Encapsulation
	4.4	3D	Non-Radical Conjugate Addition
	4.5	RN	A Extraction and Homogenization
5	GE	NE E	EXPRESSION UNDER DIFFERENT CULTURE CONDITIONS
	5.1	Sun	nmary of Sample Sets
	5.2	Prir	ncipal Component Analysis, Heat Maps, and Ingenuity Pathway Analysis
	5.2.1 5.2.2		Principal Component Analysis
			Venn Diagram of UV Comparisons Across all Sample Sets
5.2.3		.3	Heat Maps
	5.2.	.4	Ingenuity Pathway Analysis
	5.3	Rep	producibility of the Experiments
	5.4	Effe	ect of UV Radiation
	5.5	Effe	ect of Cell Culture System

	5.6	Effect of Radicals	41
	5.7	Effect of UV Radiation in Conjunction with Radicals	46
6	CO	NCLUSIONS AND FUTURE DIRECTIONS	50
7	BIB	BLIOGRAPHY	53

LIST OF FIGURES AND TABLES

Scheme 1: Radical and Non-Radical Conjugation	3
Figure 1: Cellular Phenomena Controlled by Different Cues	6
Figure 2: Adhesive, Topographical, Mechanical, and Soluble Cues in 2D and 3D	7
Figure 3: Human Fibroblasts In 2D versus 3D Cell Culture	7
Figure 4: Morphology of hMSCs Cultured in 2D and 3D Culture Systems	11
Figure 5: Lineage Potential of Adult hMSCs	13
Table 1: RNA Integrity Analysis	20
Figure 6: Workflow in a Microarray Core Lab	21
Figure 7: Sample Set Fabrication and Experimental Flow	22
Table 2: Conditions for Radical Polymerization Optimization	24
Table 3: Conditions for Non-Radical Polymerization Optimization	26
Table 4: Conditions for 3D Sample Homogenization for RNA Extraction Optimization	28
Table 5: Sample Set Description	30
Figure 8: Principle Component Analysis Map	31
Figure 9: Venn Diagram for UV Comparisons Across all Samples	32
Figure 10: Heat Map of Genes Involved in UV Exposure Across All Comparisons	36
Figure 11: Heat Map for Effect of Cell Culture Systems of Gene Expression	38
Table 6: Differentially Expressed Genes with Maximum Fold-Change Due to Change in Cul	lture
System	39
Figure 12: IPA Analysis of the effect of cell culture system 2D vs. 3D	40
Figure 13: Heat Map for the Effect of Radicals	43

Table 7: Differentially Expressed Genes with Maximum Fold-Change Due to Presence of Free-	-
Radicals in the 3D Culture System	44
Figure 14: IPA Analysis of Effect of Radicals in the 3D Systems	45
Figure 15: Heat Map for Effect of UV Radiation in Combination with Radicals	47
Table 8: Differentially Expressed Genes with Maximum Fold-Change Due to the Combined	
Effect of Free-Radicals and UV Exposure	48
Figure 16: IPA Analysis of Effect of UV Radiation on Cells Cultured in Free-radical 3D Syster	n
	49

ACKNOWLEDGEMENTS:

I am deeply thankful to Dr. Andrea M. Kasko, not only for her guidance, but also for the inspiration and encouragement during my thesis work. Dr. Kasko mentored me and taught me how to plan my research step-by-step. She was my constant source of encouragement and she has definitely helped me become a better researcher. My special thanks to Dr. Darice Wong, who was a constant source of support and advice to me throughout my two years in the lab. Her optimism kept me working hard on my experiments. I am also grateful for my committee members, Dr. Min Lee and Dr. Tatiana Segura for their time and guidance with my thesis.

I would like to thank all my lab mates, especially Dr. Ken Lin and Jason Kerr, for their unwavering support and understanding during my failures, and their enthusiastic celebrations for my successful experiments.

Lastly I am indebted to my family, especially my parents Dr. Ranganath and Pramila, for their unwavering support and patience. They have instilled in me a passion to learn and have always stood by me through the highs and lows.

It has been a great pleasure and honor working in Dr. Kasko's lab in UCLA. I am glad I had this opportunity and I thank everybody for believing in me.

1 INTRODUCTION

Tissue engineering is an emerging field that aims to engineer complex tissues or organs in vitro.¹ A key milestone required for success is engineering the stem cell niche which is required for the differentiation of stem cells into a desired lineage. Optimization parameters include biomaterials, cell source, and chemical cues.¹ Cells are commonly cultured in vitro on 2D substrates such as tissue culture polystyrene (TCPS) that gives a very basic interpretation about growth conditions and differentiation potential.² However, it has been shown that cells behave differently when they are removed from their 3D tissue and cultured in a monolayer. For example, Bissel et al., demonstrated that human breast epithelial cells develop tumor like characteristics when excised from their native 3D tissue.³ Additionally 2D substrates are inherently unnatural for most cell types, as the cells adhere abnormally and grow in a monolayer. This monolayer culture assures that cells are uniformly exposed to the culture medium and to any other external factors, but this is not representative of in vivo conditions. Furthermore, it is extremely difficult to recreate higher-order cellular processes like morphogenesis, tissue remodeling, and cancer cell migration in a 2D system, as these processes occur when cells alter their microenvironment, and cells are unable to alter the TCPS 2D culture system.⁴ Therefore, researchers designed various 3D culture systems to better recreate native tissue conditions in order to bridge the gap between native tissue structure and 2D in vitro culture conditions. Our interest lies in understanding how 2D versus 3D culture systems affects gene expression in hMSCs, and how fabrication of 3D culture systems impacts hMSCs.

In tissue engineering, a common 3D cell culture system is a hydrogel, which is a water swollen cross-linked polymer network.⁵ Hydrogels mimic the body's physiological

conditions since they have similar water content, tunable elasticity, and are biocompatible.⁶ Fabrication of hydrogels for tissue engineering applications can be accomplished via physical or chemical cross-linking. Chemical cross-linking is commonly accomplished by free-radical polymerizations or by conjugate addition of macromers. Radical polymerization utilizes ammonium persulfate/N,N,N',N'-tetramethylethylenediamine radical initiators [e.g. (APS/TEMED), Irgacure 2959]^{7,8} that attack the monomer, resulting in the chain growth of a polymer. However, free-radicals generated can place oxidative stress on the cell systems. On the other hand, there is no radical generation during fabrication of hydrogels using conjugate addition for cross-linking.⁷ Conjugate addition allows reaction with a large number of functional groups (such as acrylate or maleimide)⁹, however, the reaction rate could be slow compared to radical polymerization. Additionally, many cross-linkers are hydrophobic and require non-biocompatible organic solvents. The mechanisms for cross-linking by both freeradical polymerization and conjugate addition are depicted in Scheme 1. We aimed to investigate two different 3D systems, formed with and without radicals, in order to determine the extent of damage that free-radical encapsulations may cause.



Scheme 1: Radical and Non-Radical Conjugation: Hydrogels can be fabricated using PEG4K-DA as the monomer unit. Cross-linking of PEG4K-DA can occur by free-radical initiator or by cross-linkers such as pentaerythritol tetrakis(3-mercaptopropionate) (PETMP) (non-radical fabrication)

Photoinitiation is an attractive tool for hydrogel fabric ation since light allows both spatial and temporal control. Although many wavelengths have been reported, the most common conditions utilized are low intensity (5-20 mW/cm²), long wavelength UV light (365 nm).^{10–12} Photoencapsulation typically utilizes a photoinitiator that cleaves to produce free-radicals which react with unsaturated bonds in the macromers. In addition to cell encapsulation, UV radiation is also utilized in various other tissue engineering techniques like photouncaging¹³, photopatterning¹¹, and photodegradation^{10,12}. Drugs and other small molecules can be entrapped or covalently attached in the hydrogel and can be subsequently released around cells and tissues.^{10,14,15} In these cases UV light may or may not generate free radicals. Therefore, it is imperative to determine the effect of UV light alone on cells.

Previous experiments conducted have reported the cytocompatibility of long wavelength UV in the presence of photoinitiators^{11,16} and after photodegradation¹⁰. This was characterized by viability assays like MTT [3-(4,5-Dimethylthiazol-2-yl)-2,5-Diphenyltetrazolium

Bromide] and Live/Dead.^{10,11,16} Although viability is one measure of compatibility, undesired changes can occur in cells that are viable. Viability studies do not provide sufficient information on the possible changes occurring in addition to cell death. Specifically, no study exists that systematically explores the effect of commonly used long wavelength UV radiation on cells.

hMSCs are of tremendous research interest due to their extensive capacity for self renewal and a broad potential for differentiating into diverse cell/ tissue types.^{15,17} In our experiments, we investigate the effects of long wavelength UV on the gene expression of cells. It is necessary to know if there are any gene expression changes after exposure to UV light and, other than cytotoxicity, what other functional pathways change as a result of changes in gene expression. We cultured cells in both 2D and 3D environments, including two variations in the 3D culture systems fabricated with and without radicals, to isolate gene expression changes due to exposure to free radicals. This will help us understand the effect of radicals alone and in combination with UV exposure on the stem cell gene expression, as well as the effect of UV light alone. We used the human U133 plus 2.0 Affymetrix gene chip for gene expression profiling of hMSCs cultured and exposed to different experimental conditions.

2 BACKGROUND

2.1 Cell Culture Conditions

Cells can be cultured in either 2D or 3D systems; until recently, most experiments were conducted with 2D cell culture systems, with cells being cultured on glass/plastic surfaces.⁴ Therefore, most of the field's understanding of various cellular activities (differentiation, migration, and adhesion) is based on experiments conducted in 2D cell culture system.⁴ 2D cell culture systems are popular because they are simple, accessible, easy to design, set up, and maintain; however, *in vivo* cells are surrounded by a complex environment where there are dynamic interactions between various cell types and extracellular matrix components.⁴ Such complex interactions cannot be recapitulated in 2D cell culture systems. 2D experiments might not be successful in capturing the physiological behavior of cells *in vivo*.⁴ Figure 1 illustrates some of the cues such mechanical, soluble, and topographical cues which cells are exposed to *in vivo* but cannot be recapitulated *in vitro* in the 2D systems.¹⁸ Therefore, despite 2D system's convenience to observe morphology and cell characteristics under a microscope, it is no longer considered an accurate representation of the cell in *in vivo* environment and cannot be used to predict the complex behavior of biological systems.

Previous research has shown that the same cell types behave differently when cultured in 2D versus in 3D systems. For example, consecutive 2D culturing of rabbit chondrocytes leads to a loss in phenotype and changes in the collagen and proteoglycan production.¹⁹ In contrast, when the chondrocytes were encapsulated in 3D agarose gels, they re-expressed the differentiated phenotype. In addition to differences in protein production, cells typically adopt different morphologies in 2D systems as compared to 3D systems.²⁰ For example,

Figure 3 depicts the remarkable differences in cell morphology, fibronectin matrix organization (blue), and architecture of α_5 integrin-positive adhesion structures (white) of human fibroblasts cultured in 2D and 3D systems.²¹



Figure 1: Cellular Phenomena Controlled by Different Cues (adapted from4) : Epithelial cells in vivo experience mechanical cues from the flow of blood through vessels, as well as soluble and ECM-bound cues from the surrounding tissues. These cells have specific polarization and topographical cues from naturally existing in monolayer lining the lumen of a vessel, but other cell types have different cues from their natural state.

Researchers are relying more extensively on 3D culture systems to validate the previous results from 2D systems. However, 3D systems also vary in their ability to mimic the native tissue. Cells encapsulated in 3D systems are not exposed to uniform conditions since they experience different stress levels, growth factor, and medium concentrations, due to diffusion-mediated gradients inherent in 3D systems. These might be difficult to quantify. Figure 2 gives a pictorial representation of the striking differences between a collagen coated 2D substrate and a collagen hydrogel which forms the 3D culture system.⁴



Figure 2: Adhesive, Topographical, Mechanical, and Soluble Cues in 2D and 3D are very Different (adapted from4)

Since both 2D and 3D systems are still widely used in research literature, it is necessary to know how each culture condition affects cells at the genetic level. This will be accomplished by quantifying the differences in gene expression levels based on the cell culture system.



Figure 3: Human Fibroblasts In 2D versus 3D Cell Culture (Reproduced from reference²¹ with permission from Elsevier): Fibroblasts cultured in the agarose gels produce more adhesion structures than when they are cultured in 2D systems.

2.2 Culture System Description

Researchers over the past few years have developed various substrates for 2D and 3D cell culture systems. 2D cell culture systems use glass, plastic, or patterned hydrogel surfaces as

common substrates for cell growth.²² For 3D systems, polymeric scaffolds such as hydrogels and other porous scaffolds are utilized due to their ability to mimic physiological conditions.⁶

Hydrogels are an important class of biomaterials in tissue engineering due their easily tunable properties (modulus, mesh size, and volumetric swelling ratio) all of which are heavily influenced by the cross-link density.^{8,23} A common method to fabricate hydrogels is to covalently bond monomers to form a cross-linked network.⁵ Covalent cross-links can be generated by free-radicals or by utilizing multifunctional cross-linkers. For radical polymerization, possible ways to generate radicals are via redox systems (e.g. APS/TEMED)¹⁰ and photoinitiators (Irgacure 2959, using UV radiation at 365 nm, 10 mW/cm² for 10-20 minutes)¹¹. However, free radicals in solution have been known to cause oxidative stress and mediate cellular damage.²⁴ Therefore, we are interested in determining the changes in gene expression in cells exposed to these common encapsulation conditions (UV light and radicals).

UV radiation is also used for various other tissue engineering techniques since light gives us both spatial and temporal control in both 2D and 3D systems.²⁵ It has been shown that hMSCs can be encapsulated in hydrogels polymerized with the use of photoinitiator Irgacure 2959 without loss in cell viability ($I_0=4 \text{ mW/cm}^2$, t=10 min, $\lambda=365 \text{ nm}$).²⁶ Bryant et al., photoencapsulated chondrocytes using Irgacure 2959 as the photoinitiator ($I_0=8 \text{ mW/ cm}^2$, t=10 min, $\lambda=365 \text{ nm}$).¹⁶ Almost all the chondrocytes survived the encapsulation process.¹⁶ Photodegradation of hydrogels by exposure to 365 nm UV at 10 mW/ cm² for 8 minutes to release encapsulated hMSCs has been reported by Kloxin et al. and Griffin et al., while maintaining good cell viability of released cells.^{10,12} In these previous studies, the most commonly considered cellular response to UV radiation is cytotoxicity, usually assayed Live/Dead or MTT for mammalian cells.^{10,12,16,27} However, across these studies, there is no information on the effects of UV radiation on the gene expression of cells.

Previous studies have demonstrated that the entire spectrum of UV radiation damages the biological system by heating it, altering chemical bonds in molecules, and forming reactive oxygen species.²⁸ Stress responses activated due to DNA damage by UV radiation could lead to growth rate changes, signal transduction changes, inflammation, gene repair, mutagenesis, recombination, and induction of variety of genes associated with growth control.²⁹ Ultimately, effects on gene expression may change with the intensity and the duration of UV exposure on hMSCs. In our experiments, we chose to expose hMSCs at 365 nm, 4 mW/cm² for 25 minutes. This intensity is comparable to the total flux commonly used for cytocompatible exposure in literature for various experiments like cell encapsulation, photodegradation, and photouncaging.^{10,12,16,27}

Monomers and cross-linking molecules for hydrogel fabrication can be chosen from a wide range of biocompatible materials. One of the attractive precursors for polymerization is poly(ethylene glycol) (PEG). It is a hydrophilic molecule which forms hydrogels with easily tunable properties having soft tissue-like characteristics.³⁰ PEG hydrogels are non-toxic, non-immunogenic, and are resistant to protein adsorption and cell adhesion.^{31,32} They can be used to culture cells such as chondrocytes which do not need any extra signals for growth.^{31,32} If needed, PEG macromers can be functionalized with various cell adhesion peptides like RGD which help promote cell adhesion.^{33,34} Drugs such as dexamethasone can be covalently tethered to a functional group on PEG and, can be polymerized in the presence of a photoinitiator resulting in a controlled drug release system.³⁵ Due to these various advantages

PEG hydrogels are commonly reported in tissue engineering applications. We use acrylated PEG as the monomer for our hydrogel systems and form cross-linked networks via radical initiation as well as non-radical Michael addition. We did not investigate a degradable 3D system since we were only interested in the effect of light and 2D versus 3D, not the additional effect of a dynamically changing system.

To achieve an understanding of the effects of UV light on gene expression of hMSCs, we expose cells cultured in 2D and 3D culture systems (fabricated with and without radicals). This will facilitate our understanding of the effect of radicals, effect of UV radiation, and the combined effect of radicals and UV radiation on the gene expression of hMSCs.

2.3 Human Mesenchymal Stem Cells (hMSCs)

2.3.1 Background Information

MSCs are non-hematopoietic stromal cells which contribute to the regeneration of variou³⁶⁻³⁸ s mesenchymal tissues such as ligament, bone, tendon, cartilage, muscle, and adipose. hMSCs are not immortal but are capable of expanding up to many passages in culture while retaining their multipotency.^{36,37} hMSCs are primarily isolated from the adult bone marrow and are easily available.^{39,40} hMSCs have a varied morphology when cultured in 2D and 3D systems. For example, hMSCs are long and thin when cultured on a 2D surface and have a rounded morphology when encapsulated in PEG hydrogels with a tight mesh [Figure 4].⁴¹ hMSCs can be stimulated to differentiate *in vitro* into various cell types and are relatively easy to expand in culture; making this cell line an ideal use in tissue engineering.⁴²



Figure 4: Morphology of hMSCs Cultured in 2D and 3D Culture Systems: hMSCs cultured on tissue culture polystyrene (TCPS) have a long and thin morphology. However, when encapsulated in PEG hydrogels, they show a rounded morphology due to the tight mesh size.

Another significant property of hMSCs is that, when transplanted *in vivo*, they are capable of migrating toward the site of injury.⁴² hMSCs are also reservoirs for the production of

cytokines, chemokines, and the extracellular matrix that all support cell survival and proliferation.⁴³

2.3.2 Reasons For Use

The ability to control differentiation is a reason for the tremendous research on hMSCs for tissue engineering. hMSCs differentiate into specific cell types on exposure to different growth factors, chemicals, and changes in the culture microenvironment [Figure 5].⁴⁴ For example, hMSCs can be stimulated to undergo chondrogenesis with the use of transforming growth factor- β 3 (TGF- β 3) and by varying the hydrostatic pressure.⁴⁵ Growth/differentiation factors 5, 6, and 7 from the TGF- β family have been implicated in tendon formation from MSCs.⁴⁶ hMSCs can be induced to enter the osteogenic lineage *in vitro* with the use of synthetic glucocorticoid dexamethasone.^{47,48} Various biomaterials have been designed over the past few years for the encapsulation and delivery of hMSCs for orthopedic therapeutic applications and cartilage regeneration.^{49,50} Therefore, an understanding of the variations in the gene expression of hMSCs due to culturing conditions becomes imperative. We use hMSCs as the model system to investigate the influence of 2D versus 3D cell culture, radicals in the cell culture system, and exposure to long wavelength UV radiation.



Figure 5: Lineage Potential of Adult hMSCs (adapted from⁴⁴): In vitro hMSCs can be differentiated using various growth factors and signaling conditions into multiple lineages.

3 MATERIALS AND METHODS

3.1 Materials

3.1.1 Chemical Materials

Acryloyl chloride (Alfa Aesar, 96%), ammonium persulfate (APS) (Amresco), chloroform (Alfa Aesar, 99%), dichloromethane (DCM) (Acros Organics, 99%), ethanol (Decon Laboratories), ethyl ether anhydrous (Fisher Scientific), poly(ethylene glycol) (PEG4K; $M_n = 4000$) (Mallinckrodt), triethylamine (TEA) (Alfa Aesar, 99+%), tetrahydrofuran (THF) (DriSolv), N,N,N',N'-tetramethylethylenediamine (TEMED) (Calbiochem), dimethyl sulfoxide (DMSO) (Fisher Scientific).

DCM and TEA were distilled from CaH_2 under N_2 and stored under N_2 in a dry, air-free flask. All other chemicals were used as received.

3.1.2 Biological Materials

Fetal bovine serum (Atlanta Biologicals), L-glutamine (Hyclone), MEM Richter's Modification Medium (Hyclone), penicillin streptomycin (MP Biologicals), phosphate buffered saline (PBS) (Corning Cellgro), pure linkTM DNase (Invitrogen), pure linkTM RNA mini kit (Life Technologies) trypsin (Hyclone, 0.05%), TRIzol® (Life Technologies).

3.2 Methods

3.2.1 Acrylation of PEG4K

Polyethylene glycol (10 g, 2.5 mmol) (M_n 4000) was dissolved in 250 mL THF and triethylamine (1 mL, 7.5 mmol) in a round bottom flask and cooled in an ice bath prior to adding acryloyl chloride (470 μ L, 5.83 mmol) in 10 mL THF drop-wise to the round bottom

flask. The solution was stirred under nitrogen and allowed to warm at room temperature overnight. Reaction was monitored by ¹H NMR. Triethylamine salts were removed by filtration followed by removal of THF by rotary evaporation. The product poly(ethylene glycol)-4000 diacrylate (PEG4K-DA) was collected by filtration and dried under vacuum overnight. Characterized of the product by ¹H NMR which showed complete acrylation of PEG and no TEA salts. ¹H NMR spectra (δ ppm) were recorded on a Bruker Biospin Ultrashield 300 MHz NMR Spectrophotometer.

Yield: 58.6%

¹H NMR (CDCl₃): $\delta = 6.43$ (d, CH₂CH₁C(O)), $\delta = 5.71$ (d, CH₂CH₁C(O)), $\delta 6.18$ (d, CH₂CH₁C(O)), $\delta = 3.63$ (H-4), $\delta = 4.39$ (d, CH₂CH₁C(O)), $\delta = 3.63$ (m, PEG's -CH₂-CH₂-), $\delta = 3.42$ (t, PEG-CH₂CH₂OC(O)CH₂CH₂).

3.2.2 Human Mesenchymal Stem Cell Culture

Human mesenchymal stem cells (hMSCs) were obtained from Texas A&M Health Science Centre College of Medicine through a grant obtained from NCRR of the NIH (P40RR017447). The frozen cells were recovered overnight and passaged (seeding density: 60 cells/cm²) the next day. The cell culture medium used was MEM Richter's Modification medium with 20% Fetal Bovine Serum, 1% L-Glutamine and 1% Penicillin-Streptomycin. Media was changed once in 3 days. Once the cells reached ~80% confluency, they were trypsinized, counted and used for sample preparation (passage 2 hMSCs). For the scope of this project, we were interested in only analyzing the initial effects of free-radicals, UV exposure, and culture systems. Therefore, we did not test the effect of cell age (by using cells in different passage numbers) on free-radical sensitivity, UV exposure , and culture systems. All our sample sets had hMSCs in passage 2.

3.2.3 2D cell culture (Day 1)

Freshly trypsinized hMSCs (500,000 cells) were plated in 75 cm² Corning tissue culture flasks with 20 mL fresh media and placed in the incubator.

3.2.4 Encapsulation of hMSCs in PEG Hydrogels (Day 1)

Optimal cell density in the hydrogels was determined to be 3,000,000 cells/ 100 μ L. Freshly trypsinized cells were centrifuged down to a cell pellet, which was resuspended in fresh medium. Cells were counted using a hemocytometer. Aliquots having 3,000,000 cells were centrifuged in separate tubes at 0.5 rcf for 10 minutes. The resulting cell pellets were encapsulated in hydrogels which were fabricated as described below.

3.2.4.1 Radical Encapsulation

The hMSC cell pellet (3,000,000 cells) was resuspended in PEG4K-DA solution (0.01 g PEG4K-DA in 80 μ L PBS) in an eppendorf tube. 20 μ L of 2.5 M APS and 20 μ L of 1.18 M TEMED was added to the cell+PEG4K-DA solution. This resulted in a 10 wt% PEG4K-DA solution with a final concentration of 5 mM APS and 2.5 mM TEMED in PBS. The solution was swiftly mixed and the gels were cast in constructs that resulted in cylindrical hydrogels. After 12 minutes the gels were transferred to fresh medium and the medium was changed after 24 hours. Cell viability was quantified using LIVE/DEAD assay. Fluorescence was detected using a Zeiss AxioObserver Inverted Fluorescent microscope equipped with AxioVision software and cells were counted manually.

3.2.4.2 Michael Addition (Non-Radical) Conjugate Addition

Pre-reaction: PETMP was pre-reacted with PEG4K-DA in a 2:1 PETMP to PEG4K-DA molar ratio (0.03 g of PETMP with 0.125 g PEG4K-DA). The pre-reaction was carried out for 2 hours in 1000 μ L deuterated dimethyl sulfoxide. Completion of the reaction was monitored via ¹H NMR. The product was then precipitated into 200 mL cold diethyl ether, filtered, and dried under vacuum. The pre-reaction product (PEG4K-DA-PETMP) was dissolved in 1000 μ L PBS. 25 hydrogels were made from this sample, each with a 100 μ L volume.

To achieve an equivalent 2:1 PEG4K-DA to PETMP in the final product, 0.375 g of PEG4K-DA was dissolved in 875 μ L PBS. To fabricate one hydrogel, 45 μ L of the 0.092 M prereaction product and 35 μ L of 0.10 M PEG4K-DA solution were mixed. 3,000,000 hMSCs pellet was resuspensed in this solution to fabricate the one hydrogel. 25 μ L of 0.8 M TEMED solution was added to obtain a final concentration of 0.2 M TEMED in the polymer solution to catalyze conjugate addition of the samples. All samples were cured in 24 well plates. After 7 minutes the gels were transferred to fresh medium and the medium was changed after 24 hours.

3.2.5 UV Exposure Conditions (Day 2)

UV lamp for radiation source was a Black Ray UV Bench Lamp 365 nm, 115V 60 Hz, 0.68 Amps from UVP, LLC. Samples were exposed to UV radiation at 365 nm 4 mW/cm² intensity for 25 minutes. The intensity was measured and recorded using a ILT950 spectroradiometer.

3.2.6 RNA Extraction by TRIzol[®] Method and Spin Column Purification (Day 3)

Total RNA was extracted using the commercially available TRIzol[®] guanidinium-phenol based reagent followed by spin column purification using Ambion PureLink kit.

3.2.6.1 Homogenization

2D Samples: Plated cells were trypsinized and centrifuged at 0.5 rcf for 10 minutes. 1000 μ L TRIzol[®] was added to the pellet and was pipette homogenized.

3D Samples: Gels were removed from the medium and washed with PBS. They were coarsely homogenized using a plastic tissue homogenizer and then flash frozen in liquid nitrogen. Each sample was thawed in 1000 μ L TRIzol[®]. Fine homogenization was performed on ice using an electric tissue homogenizer (Tissue Tearor from Biospec Products, Inc) for 1 minute at speed 35.

3.2.6.2 Phase Separation, Precipitation and Purification:

Samples in TRIzol[®] were incubated at room temperature for 5 minutes before further processing. 200 μ L chloroform was added to each sample and incubated at room temperature for 3 minutes before centrifuging at 4°C for 15 minutes 12,000xg for phase separation. The aqueous layer was collected and an equal volume of 70% ethanol was added. This solution was centrifuged multiple times through the spin column with wash buffer I and II (protocol by Life Technologies). DNA impurities were removed with DNase bought commercially. In the final step, RNA was eluted in RNase free ultra pure water and stored at -80°C for further analysis.

3.2.7 RNA Integrity Analysis by Agilent 2100 Bioanalyzer

RNA integrity analysis was performed by the Clinical Microarray Core (CMC) facility located in UCLA. Analysis was performed using the Agilent 2100 bioanalyzer. The bioanlayzer generated electropherograms and RNA integrity number (RIN). Table 1 shows representative electropherograms for each sample set. The samples processed for microarray experiments need to have RIN > 7. All our samples had distinct 18s and 28s RNA subunit peaks and RIN > 9.40.

Sample Set	Electropherogram	RIN
A [2D UV- R-]	RIN:10 FU] 20 25 200 1000 4000 [nt]	10.0 ± 0.0
A1 [2D UV+ R-]	RIN:10 FU] 20 0 25 200 1000 4000 [nt]	10.0 ± 0.0
B [3D UV+ R-]	RIN: 9.60 [FU] 10 - 25 200 1000 4000 [nt]	9.6 ± 0.2
B1 [3D UV+ R-]	RIN:10 [FU] 20 10 25 200 1000 4000 [nt]	10.0 ± 0.0
C [3D UV- R+]	RIN:10 FU] =	10.0 ± 0.0
C1 [3D UV+ R+]	RIN:10 FU] 20 100 100 100 100 100 100 100 100 100 100	10.0 ± 0.0
D [2D UV- R-]	RIN:10 FU] 50 0 25 200 1000 4000 [nt]	10.0 ± 0.0
D1 [2D UV+ R-]	RIN:10 [FU] 0 25 200 1000 4000 [nt]	10.0 ± 0.0

 Table 1: RNA Integrity Analysis: Representative electropherograms for each sample set with average RIN.

3.2.8 Gene Chip Microarray

As demonstrated by the RNA integrity analysis, all samples were suitable for microarray analysis. Total RNA samples were sent to the CMC for microarray profiling. Human U133 plus 2.0 Affymetrix gene chip was used for profiling each sample. Figure 6 shows a general workflow overview of the experiments conducted during gene profiling.



Figure 6: Workflow in a Microarray Core Lab (adapted from⁵¹)

3.3 Experimental Flow

Figure 7 shows a pictorial representation of the experimental set up with a description of

sample sets and time points.



Figure 7: Sample Set Fabrication and Experimental Flow: After sample fabrication (Day 1) we placed 2D and 3D samples overnight in the incubator to give them enough time to recover from trypsinization, plating and encapsulation. On day 2, we exposed half the sample sets to UV radiation after the 24 hour recovery period. After UV exposure, we gave the cells 24 hours to divide and show probable changes in gene expression after UV exposure. Therefore, we extracted total RNA on Day 3 after UV exposure.

4 OPTIMIZATION OF SAMPLE SETS

4.1 2D Sample Preparation

2D sample set (without radicals) was achieved by plating 500,000 hMSCs in a Corning tissue culture flask. 2D samples were not exposed to radicals as it was not representative of experimental conditions they experience (i.e., cells are exposed to radicals when they are encapsulated but not in 2D)^{14,16,52,53}. Betz et al., showed that hMSC metabolic activity was significantly reduced after 3 hours of exposure to 20 mM APS/TEMED.⁵³ Higher concentrations applied to hMSCs result in a loss of viability, as described below. Therefore, we analyzed the effect of radicals in 3D systems only.

4.2 3D Radical Polymerization

Free-radicals are known to cause cell damage, so we first needed to optimize the free-radical mediated cell encapsulation in order to maintain \geq 90% viability of hMSCs. We systematically varied the concentration of the initiating system (APS/TEMED) to determine the minimum concentration needed to form viable 3D constructs in 15 minutes or less. A 2:1 mol: mol ratio of APS/TEMED was used based on the mechanism of radical generation.⁵⁴ The concentration of PEG4K-DA was held constant at 10 wt%. Table 2 summarizes the results.

APS concentration (mM)	TEMED concentration (mM)	Polymerization time (minutes)	LIVE/ DEAD Assay- 48 hour time point
100	50	2-3	
50	25	3-4	70%-90% cells dead (likely due to high concentration of radicals)
10	5	11	
1	0.5	Gelation did not occur 30 minutes	
5	2.5	12	~90% cells alive.

Table 2: Conditions for Radical Polymerization Optimization

We observed that high concentrations of APS/TEMED resulted in rapid polymerization, but cells did not remain viable. We did not measure the actual number of radicals generated but correlated our decrease in cell viability to the relative concentration of APS/TEMED. The lowest concentration tested, 1 mM APS and 0.5 mM TEMED, was too low to achieve sufficient gelation. However, the next lowest concentration, 5 mM APS and 2.5 mM TEMED, resulted in polymerization within 12 minutes and ~90% hMSCs remained viable. hMSC viability was quantified using LIVE/DEAD assay. The optimal encapsulation conditions using radical initiation were determined to be: 10 wt% PEG4K-DA gels polymerized with 5 mM APS and 2.5 mM TEMED and 12 minutes polymerization time.

4.3 Cell Density for Encapsulation

Next, we systematically varied the cell density to have > 50 ng concentration (minimum concentration needed for the bioanalyzer and gene array experiments), of the extracted total
RNA. We systematically varied the cell density from 100,000 hMSCs to 5,000,000 hMSCs per 100 μ L gel. We observed that the hydrogels with $\leq 2,500,000$ cells did provide the required amount of total RNA (extracted total RNA concentration ~20 ng/ μ L). The optimal cell density for 3D samples, 3,000,000 hMSCs in a 100 μ L gel resulted in > 50 ng/ μ L concentration of the extracted total RNA.

4.4 3D Non-Radical Conjugate Addition

Just as we optimized the free-radical polymerization, we also needed to optimize the nonradical hydrogel fabrication via Michael addition. In this case, we held the cell density constant based on our previous results (3,000,000 cells per 100 μ L gel). Initial attempts to cross-link by varying the PEG4K-DA concentration was unsuccessful since we discovered the cross-linker PETMP was too hydrophobic to allow encapsulation in aqueous medium. Therefore, we pre-reacted PETMP with PEG4K-DA to increase its solubility in aqueous solutions. The presence of excess acrylates during the pre-reaction causes gelation. To avoid this issue, a 2:1 mole ratio of PETMP:PEG4K-DA (4:1 mole ratio of thiol:acrylate) was reacted in deuterated dimethyl sulfoxide and followed by ¹HNMR.

Tał	ole 3:	Conditions	for Non	-Radical	Pol	ymerization	0	ptimization
-----	--------	------------	---------	----------	-----	-------------	---	-------------

Condition	Values	Observations
Macromer (PEG4K-DA) weight percentage with PETMP (2:1 mole ratio)	10 to 50 wt% PEG4K-DA	Gelation did not occur since PETMP was too hydrophopic.
Pre-reaction time	1 to 12 hours	Pre-reaction > 4 hours resulted in the formation of a viscous product which could not be successfully precipitated. With pre-reaction < 2 hours, reaction did not go to completion and product could not be isolated.
TEMED concentration	0.2 to 0.4 M	0.2 M TEMED resulted in ~90% cell viability and a gelation time of ~7 minutes

After pre-reaction of PETMP with PEG4K-DA, all encapsulation components became water-soluble and we could proceed with hMSC encapsulation. We used a molar ratio of 2:1 PEG4K-DA:PETMP (1:1 mole ratio of thiol:acrylate) in PBS. The rate of the Michael addition reaction is strongly influenced by pH, with faster rates observed at higher pH.⁹ We therefore added TEMED as a base catalyst to deprotonate the thiol and accelerate the encapsulation. We tested hMSC viability using LIVE/DEAD assay (as explained in 4.2) with a range of TEMED concentrations (0.2-0.4 M). Table 3 summarizes the conditions varied and the observations recorded during the optimization of non-radical cross-linking. The optimal encapsulation conditions using non-radical cross-linking were determined to be an initial pre-reaction of PETMP with PEG4K-DA (2:1 mole ratio) in deuterated DMSO for two

hours followed by precipitation, filtration, and drying of the product. In the second step, hMSCs were encapsulated in a solution of pre-reaction product and PEG4K-DA (dissolved in PBS). 0.2 M TEMED was used as a base catalyst resulting in a gelation time of ~7 minutes and ~90% hMSC viability.

4.5 RNA Extraction and Homogenization

Monolayer (2D sample) RNA extraction is well documented in the literature.^{55–57} However homogenization of cells encapsulated in hydrogels for optimal RNA extraction is less common. We determined the optimal RNA extraction parameters for our systems by exploring different homogenization conditions. We experimented with four different homogenizers: Bullet blender (bead mill homogenizer), ceramic and plastic mortar and pestle for manual homogenization, and electric tissue homogenizer for automated homogenization. Our goal was to extract total RNA with integrity greater than 7 on a scale of 10 since gene array experiments require high quality RNA.⁵¹ Table 4 lists the various combinations of homogenizers used.

Trial	Homogenization Condition	~ RNA Concentration (ng/ µL)	RIN
1	Bullet blender, 2.0 mm zirconium oxide beads, 20	2.0	1.1-1.7
	minutes, speed 8		
2	Bullet blender, 2.0 mm zirconium oxide beads in	8.0	2.2-2.8
	combination with 0.4 mm zirconium oxide beads for 20		
	minutes at speed 8		
3	Electric tissue homogenizer in various combinations	15.0	1.0-2.6
	with 4 mm and 0.4 mm zirconium oxide beads		
4	Ceramic mortar pestle in combination with electric	18.5	1.0-2.4
	tissue homogenizer		
5	Electric tissue homogenizer for different time lengths	35.0	2.2-5.2
	(10 seconds- 5minutes) and different speeds (8- 35)		
6	Plastic tissue homogenizer, then flash freeze samples in	60.0	7.4-10.0
	liquid nitrogen. Thaw in TRIzol and use electric tissue		
	homogenizer for 1 minute speed 35 on ice.		

Table 4: Conditions for 3D Sample Homogenization for RNA Extraction Optimization

We observed that with the use of just the bullet blender with different combinations of bead size or the plastic tissue homogenizer by itself, the hydrogel was not completely homogenized even after 8 minutes. This resulted in a low concentration of RNA extracted from encapsulated cells. With the use of ceramic mortar and pestle, we saw degradation in the extracted RNA sample, possibly due to the presence of RNases in the porous ceramic material. The electric tissue homogenizer successfully homogenized the hydrogels but generated excess heat during the process, resulting in degradation of extracted RNA. Therefore, in order to minimize the effect of heat generated during the homogenization process, we performed the homogenization on ice. Additionally, we used the plastic mortar and pestle first to homogenize the hydrogel coarsely. This helped in reducing the homogenization time by the electric tissue homogenizer, thus minimizing the effect of heat generated during the process. The optimal RNA extraction conditions were determined to be: homogenize initially with a plastic tissue homogenizer, followed by flash freezing the sample in liquid nitrogen. Later, thaw samples in TRIzol and homogenize using the electric tissue homogenizer for one minute at speed 35 on ice. After optimizing the cell encapsulation and RNA extraction procedures, we proceeded to fabricate our sample sets as explained in chapter 3.

5 <u>GENE EXPRESSION UNDER DIFFERENT CULTURE CONDITIONS</u>

5.1 Summary of Sample Sets

Sample sets used in our experiments are tabulated in Table 5. UV+ and UV- indicate whether the samples were exposed to UV radiation or not respectively. R+ and R- indicated the presence or absence of radicals in the culture system respectively.

Experimental Condition	2D R(-)	3D R (-)	3D R(+)
UV (-)	A, D	В	С
UV (+)	A1, D1	B1	C1

Table 5: Sample Set Description

Samples for sets A and B were created in the first batch, and C and D in the second batch (experiments for the two batches were conducted on separate days). Sample sets A and D were used as controls between the two batches. That is, if our experiments are reproducible, we should observe no significant differences between A and D.

5.2 Principal Component Analysis, Heat Maps, and Ingenuity Pathway Analysis

5.2.1 Principal Component Analysis

Principal Component Analysis (PCA) is a statistical analysis tool which works by reducing the dimensionality of data by determining the key variables resulting in differences seen between samples.⁵⁸ The PCA map generated from this data is a visual multidimensional

representation that summarizes the changes in gene expression due to our various experimental conditions. Figure 8 is the PCA map generated for the gene expression profiles of our sample sets.



Figure 8: Principle Component Analysis Map: PCA map shows distinct clustering of all sample sets indicating the significant variation in gene expression between each sample set. We can also see that samples exposed to UV radiation have similar clustering patterns as their counterparts with no UV exposure indicating that UV exposure did not play a significant role in changing the gene expression. We can also observe that 2D and 3D sample sets cluster in different zones of the PCA indicating that culture systems play a major role in influencing the gene expression.

5.2.2 Venn Diagram of UV Comparisons Across all Sample Sets

The Venn diagram [Figure 9] provides a pictorial representation of the approximate number

of genes with differential expression with each experimental condition. It also visualizes the

approximate number of common genes that changes when two comparisons are combined.

This will help us understand the specific effects of external factors like UV exposure, and the

presence/absence of radicals in the cell culture systems.



Figure 9: Venn Diagram for UV Comparisons Across all Samples: The Venn diagram depicts the number of differentially expressed genes under UV exposure across all culture conditions (2D and 3D)

5.2.3 Heat Maps

Heats maps display 2D mosaic models generated by the microarray data where the levels of gene expression are compared. Gene expression levels are correlated to a transition from red to blue where, red represents relative over-expression and blue represents under-expression. Heat maps visualize changes in the gene expression under different conditions. Data from the heat maps provide quantifiable validation for the observations made from the PCA map. Each heat map has a customized gene expression fold-change range. A minimum of two-fold differential expression of genes with a *p-value* < 0.05 is the cut-off for inclusion in the heat map.

5.2.4 Ingenuity Pathway Analysis

Ingenuity pathway analysis (IPA) helps us interpret the microarray data in the context of biological processes, pathways and networks. This analysis is very useful since we know that

genes do not work alone but have networks of interactions and their combined effects. This is also a way of potentially excluding false positive results since random gene expression would not necessarily result in specific pathway enrichment.

5.3 Reproducibility of the Experiments

The samples sets A,A1 and D,D1 [2D UV- R-, 2D UV+ R-] went through the same experimental conditions but were processed in different batches on different days. The gene expression data of these samples can be compared to demonstrate the reproducibility of our experiments. In the PCA map [Figure 9], all the four samples are clustered in the top right zone demonstrating that there is very little statistical variation of gene expression between these samples. This is further confirmed by similar expression patterns depicted in the heat map data in the following sections.

5.4 Effect of UV Radiation

The PCA map shows that the gene expression profiles do not exhibit significant variation with respect to UV exposure across all culture systems. This is seen by the clustering of the samples in three distinct zones. We can see that AD-A1D1 [2D R- (UV- vs. UV-)], B-B1 [3D R- (UV- vs. UV+)], and C-C1 [3D R+ (UV- vs. UV+)], have distinct clustering on the map indicating that the exposure to UV radiation does not play a significant role in altering the gene expression of hMSCs. However, qualitatively we can see that there is more variation in between sample replicates which were encapsulated via radical reaction. We hypothesize that this is due to the compounded effect of UV radiation in the presence of radicals generated during radical polymerization. This might be a result of UV radiation accelerating the generation of radicals present in the system. These observations show that the exposure of

hMSCs to UV radiation does not make a significant impact on the gene expression, while indicating an increased effect on the gene expression profile in the presence of radicals in the culture system.

Although no significant variation was observed between those samples exposed to UV versus those unexposed, there were 16 common genes showing variations in the gene expression profile across all sample sets. The change in expression in these 16 genes may or may not be meaningful as they represent a very small number of differentially expressed genes (< 0.1%). The change might be attributable to non-viable cells or attributable to UV exposure. The Affymetrix gene chip analyzes more than 44,000 genes. With a *p*-value < 0.05 one could potentially see as many as 2200 false positive results in differential gene expression. While this might make 16 genes look insignificant and potentially random, we cannot rule out the opposite statistical scenario that few changes occur but those that do are actually real. For validation of results for any particular differentially expressed gene, further experiments such as RT-PCR and western blot are needed. Listed below are a few of the commonly differentially expressed genes that may be related to cell health and viability. Figure 10 shows the heat map for those 16 genes across all sample sets which showed differential gene expression under UV exposure. It is seen that these sixteen genes are mostly involved in regulation of basic cellular functions like cell growth, cell division, and tissue development or in inflammatory responses.

RARRES1 and RARB are genes belonging to the retinoic acid receptors (RAR) family where these are involved in the regulation of organogenesis during tissue development.⁵⁹ Across all conditions, we observed a two-fold downregulation of the RAR family genes. FOS gene has

been shown to have an important role in cell proliferation and differentiation⁶⁰ and showed a two-fold downregulation across all sample sets after UV exposure. Most importantly we see the FOXQ1 gene with two to four-fold upregulation in expression. The FOX family of genes have been known to play a significant role in embryonic development, cell cycle regulation, tissue-specific gene expression, and cell signaling.⁶¹ Under exposure to UV, we can see a two-fold upregulation of CCL2 and LXN. CCL2 displays chemotactic activity for monocytes and basophils. In some cases, fluctuations in CCL2 concentration depicts disease activity and/or inflammatory activity in response to cell distress.⁶² LXN, which is a paralog of RARRES1 is involved in metastatic suppression and is also known to be involved in inflammatory responses.⁶³ Taken together, these changes point to the possibility of DNA damage in hMSCs after UV exposure followed by changes in cell proliferation and initiation of immune responses.

These changes in gene expression might indicate that some cells experience damage from the UV exposure, or might be attributed to other damage that occurs during sample fabrication. The subset of genes changing their expression is very small compared to the thousands of genes being analyzed, and this change may not be significant at all. The only condition in which > 200 genes show differential expression under UV exposure was in the presence of radicals formed during the encapsulation procedure. When > 200 genes show differential expression between two samples, this allows us to do pathway analysis to determine specific signaling pathways that might change as a result of the experimental conditions.^{64–66} Although changes in fewer than 200 genes between samples may still be significant such a change is relatively small compared to the large number of genes interrogated. Figure 10





Figure 10: Heat Map of Genes Involved in UV Exposure Across All Comparisons: The heat maps depicts 16 common genes which showed differential expression across all UV exposure conditions. The genes discussed are highlighted in the heat map.

5.5 Effect of Cell Culture System

The second experimental condition for comparison was the culture system 2D versus 3D. From the PCA maps, we can observe that the gene expression profiles of hMSCs cultured in different systems change significantly since they are segregated in different zones of the map. This demonstrates that the culture conditions significantly affect the gene expression, which is no surprise given the ample evidence in literature.^{67,68}

The PCA map shows a large difference in the gene expression of hMSCs cultured in different systems. Quantitative analysis shows a two-fold change in gene expression for a total of 5164 at a *p*-value < 0.05. Out of the 5164 genes in the list, we investigated a few differentially expressed genes. RASD1 plays a role in the alterations in cell morphology, growth and cellextracellular matrix.⁶⁹ This gene showed a 103-fold change in 3D systems as compared with the 2D counterpart. ADAMTS1 has been referenced as being necessary for normal growth, fertility, and organ morphology and function.⁷⁰ Differential expression of this gene had been implicated in the migration and invasion of human breast tumor cells.⁷¹ In our experiments, we saw a 25-fold upregulation from 2D to 3D system in the expression of ADAMTS1 gene. GDF15 is involved in the regulation of tissue differentiation and maintenance.⁷² When cultured in 3D systems, we saw a four-fold upregulation of GDF15 as compared to the 2D system. We also saw a 12-fold downregulation of GAS1 gene. GAS1 gene is a growth arrest specific gene which is involved in growth suppression.⁷³ Table 6 has a list of differentially expressed genes with maximum fold-change occurring due to change in the cell culture system. Taken together, changes in this collection of genes implies that hMSCs cultured in a tissue-like 3D system have significant differential expression of genes involved in cell growth and morphology.

The heat map generated to depict the gene expression change for this comparison is shown in Figure 11. By comparison of the number of genes being differentially expressed, we can observe that the culture system more significantly affects gene expression as compared to UV exposure.



Figure 11: Heat Map for Effect of Cell Culture Systems of Gene Expression: The heat map depicts the differential expression of 5164 genes in cells cultured under 3D conditions as compared to cells cultured in 2D systems.

Fold Gene Name **Gene Function** Change Important transcriptional activator in the regulation of genes involved in **CEBPB** +112immune and inflammatory responses.^{74,7} This gene may play a role in dexamethasone-induced alterations in cell RASD1 +102morphology, growth and cell-extracellular matrix interactions.^{69,76} SAT1 +97.2Involved in the regulation of the intracellular concentration of polyamines and their transport out of cells. Defects in this gene are associated with keratosis follicularis spinulosa decalvans.⁷⁷ Probably recognizes and binds to phosphorylated target proteins during FBXO32 +44.5skeletal muscle atrophy.^{78,79} Rapidly transports Ca²⁺ during excitation-contraction coupling.⁸⁰ SLC8A1 +43.9C11orf96 +40.4Uncharacterized Facilitating anterograde intracellular trafficking of the receptor. Involved GABARAPL1 +35.7in formation of autophagosomal vacuoles.⁸ Stimulates the secretion of gonadotropins; it stimulates the secretion of GNRH1 -12.9 both luteinizing and follicle-stimulating hormones.⁸² TRIM59 -13.4 Diseases associated is asphyxiating thoracic dystrophy. GO annotations related to this gene include ubiquitin protein ligase activity and zinc ion binding.⁸³ PIWIL2 -13.4 Plays an essential role in meiotic differentiation of spermatocytes, germ cell differentiation and in self-renewal of spermatogonial stem cells. When overexpressed, acts as an oncogene by inhibition of apoptosis and promotion of proliferation in tumors.⁸⁴ May regulate diuresis, blood pressure and skeletal development.^{85,86} NPR3 -13.7 SNORD114-3 -14.1 RNA gene, and is affiliated with the snoRNA class and is involved in acute promyelocytic leukemia.⁸⁷ This protein may mediate the cellular effects of retinoic acid on the G -16.9 **GPRC5B** protein signal transduction cascade.⁸⁸ CDCA2 -17.8Regulator of chromosome structure during mitosis required for condensin-depleted chromosomes to retain their compact architecture through anaphase.89,90

Table 6: Differentially Expressed Genes with Maximum Fold-Change Due to Change in Culture System

In the literature, we have seen that 3D systems are used to better mimic body-like conditions and can be tailored to differentiate stem cells to desired lineages. This indicates that the culture conditions change the expression levels of genes involved in particular pathways which lead to the desired phenotypic expression. We processed the differentially expressed genes using IPA to understand the functional pathways that were affected by culturing the hMSCs in 2D vs. 3D systems. Figure 12 shows selected pathways affected to a large extent due to changes in the culture system. The majority of genes that changed were involved in the cell cycle pathway followed by cellular growth and proliferation, cell development, and cell cycle. The results help us visualize the important pathways affected when cells are cultured in 2D versus 3D systems. We can see that the culture systems plays an integral role in the genetic expression of hMSCs. Therefore, it becomes imperative to understand the consequences of culture conditions on the cells since the process may itself alter gene expression.



Figure 12: IPA Analysis of the effect of cell culture system 2D vs. 3D: Differentially expressed genes under 2D vs. 3D condition were analyzed using IPA to understand the cellular pathways affected.

5.6 Effect of Radicals

There is significant variation between the gene expression of both the 3D cell culture systems- B,B1 [3D R- (UV-, UV+)] versus C,C1 [3D R+ (UV-, UV+)] due to the mode of fabrication. Quantitative analysis shows that there was a change in gene expression for a total of 3030 genes with two-fold expression difference at a *p*-value < 0.05. It has been demonstrated previously that radicals damage the cell membrane, form DNA dimers and in general activate stress response in cells.^{29,91-93} Our experiments show the differential expression of genes involved in these pathways. GADD45b and GADD45g are kinase inhibitors which are involved in cell cycle checkpoints induced by genotoxic stress.⁹⁴ CDC20 is a cell division cycle 20 gene acting as a regulatory checkpoint in the cell cycle.^{95,96} In the presence of radicals, we saw a six-fold upregulation in the expression of these genes indicating that the cells were under genotoxic stress. This implies damage to cellular DNA. CXCL3 is a cytokine that controls immune response by mediating the migration of monocytes and interacting with various cell surface chemokine receptors.^{97,98} A six-fold upregulation of this gene under the influence of radicals indicates repair mechanisms being activated inside the cell. TK1 is the thymidine kinase gene which is upregulated in rapidly proliferating cells and downregulated in resting cells.^{99,100} Usually used as a marker for detecting cancer cells, it was shown to have a four-fold upregulation in cells exposed to radicals. This indicated the damaging potential of radicals to the cells since upregulation is known to cause unnatural rapid cell proliferation.^{99,100}

Exposure to radicals in the cell culture system also caused differential expression in genes involved in the immune regulatory pathway, DNA repair and cell apoptosis pathways. The CCL26 gene regulates the production of proteins involved in immunoregulatory and inflammatory processes.^{101,102} A four-fold upregulation of gene expression in cells exposed to radicals implies damage to cells eliciting the activation of immune response pathways. The THBS1 gene codes for an adhesive glycoprotein which mediates cell-to-cell and cell-to-matrix interactions.¹⁰³ In cells exposed to radicals we saw a three-fold increase in the THBS1 gene expression. This could be due to the damage caused by the radicals to the cell membrane leading to changes in the cell-cell and cell-matrix interactions. CASP4 and SIVA1 play central roles in the execution-phase of apoptosis.^{104–107} Exposure to radicals causes a three-fold downregulation of these genes. Downregulation of genes involved in the apoptotic pathway has been shown to cause cancer cell survival, resistance of cells to drugs, and other unnatural behavior of cells.^{108,109}

The heat map generated to depict the gene expression change for this comparison is shown in Figure 13. Table 7 has a list of differentially expressed genes with maximum fold-change occurring due to the presence of free-radicals in the 3D cell culture system.



Figure 13: Heat Map for the Effect of Radicals: The heat map depicts the differential expression of 3030 genes in cells cultured in the presence of radicals.

Gene Name	Fold Change	Gene Function
HSPA6	+112	Codes for proteins that bind to peptide segments exposed during translation and membrane translocation, or following stress-induced damage. ¹¹⁰
ANGPTL4	+97.2	Codes for a protein which acts as an apoptosis survival factor for vascular endothelial cells and can prevent metastasis by inhibiting vascular growth and tumor cell invasion. ¹¹¹
CXCL2	+35.6	Involved in proteins produced by activated monocytes and neutrophils and expressed at sites of inflammation. ¹¹²
RRAD	+31.5	May play an important role in cardiac anti-arrhythmia. ¹¹³
GADD45b	+25.9	Involved in the regulation of growth and apoptosis. ^{114,115}
PDK4	+20.5	Plays a role in the generation of reactive oxygen species and has a role in cell proliferation. ¹¹⁶
BHLHE40	+19.9	The encoded protein is believed to be involved in the control of cell differentiation. ¹¹⁷
PLA2R1	-13.0	Induces cell death of cancer cells by miochondrial stress. ¹¹⁸
COL3A1	-13.7	Involved in regulation of cortical development. ¹¹⁹
ZNF117	-14.1	May be involved in transcriptional regulation of inflammation and apoptosis. ¹²⁰
PLXDC1	-15.5	Plays a critical role in endothelial cell capillary morphogenesis. ¹²¹
IBSP	-17.8	Probably important to cell-matrix interaction. Promotes Arg-Gly-Asp dependent cell attachment. ¹²²
CHI3L1	-20.6	Involved in defense against pathogens and/or tissue remodeling. Plays an important role in cellular response helping cells cope with changes in their environment. ¹²³

Table 7: Differentially Expressed Genes with Maximum Fold-Change Due to Presence ofFree-Radicals in the 3D Culture System

To have a better context for understanding the data, IPA analysis was performed on these differentially expressed genes. Figure 14 shows selected pathways affected to a large extent from exposure to radicals. The majority of genes that changed were involved in the cancer pathway followed by cellular assembly, cell cycle, and cell development. It is very interesting to observe that the majority of the differentially expressed genes are involved in cancer pathways. This can be correlated back to various studies conducted which demonstrate that radicals cause oxidative stress on cells, initiating DNA repair pathways, and if the damage cannot be repaired, initiating pathways leading to cell apoptosis.^{124,125}

The IPA analysis for analyzing the effect of radicals generated during the polymerization process shows the importance of understanding the effects of fabrication methods on the gene expression of cells being encapsulated. We can see that culturing cells in the presence of radicals changes the expression of genes involved in cancer pathways, cell development, cell proliferation, and survival. Therefore, it becomes imperative to understand the consequences of our encapsulation methods on the cells.



Figure 14: IPA Analysis of Effect of Radicals in the 3D Systems: Differentially expressed genes under radical vs. non-radical condition were analyzed using IPA to understand the cellular pathways affected.

5.7 Effect of UV Radiation in Conjunction with Radicals

The PCA map shows a relatively greater effect of UV radiation in the system that was fabricated by free-radical polymerization [C1 vs. C: 3D R+ (UV- vs. UV+)] as compared to samples fabricated by non-radical polymerization [B1 vs. B: 3D R- (UV- vs. UV+)] This is probably due to the acceleration in the generation of radicals thereby increasing the concentration of radicals in the system. Quantitative analysis shows a change in gene expression for a total of 507 genes with greater than two-fold differential expression at a *p*-*value* < 0.05 in the 3D radical system as compared to a differential expression of 117 genes in the 3D non-radical system.

CYGB gene encodes a globin protein which is produced in response to oxidative stress.¹²⁶ We see a three-fold upregulation of this gene which is indicative of the cells response to oxidative stress due to the exposure to free-radicals. FOXQ1 (related to embryonic development, cell cycle regulation, tissue-specific gene expression, and cell signaling) was upregulated two-fold indicating a possible consequences of UV exposure on tissue development.

GADD45b (inhibitor involved in cell cycle checkpoints induced by genotoxic stress)⁹⁴ is dowregulated two-fold in hMSCs exposed to UV radiation in conjunction with radicals. A downregulation for this gene might imply that the cell divison continued after DNA damage resulting in the formation of mutated cells.^{108,127} GAS1 gene is a growth arrest specific gene which is involved in growth suppression.⁷³ We saw a two-fold downregulation of this gene which implies variations in cell growth mechanisms.

The final response against cellular damage is initiation of apoptotic factors. ALPK2 is involved in DNA-repair mechanisms and apoptosis.¹²⁸ BCL2-like11 is an apoptosis facilitator.^{127,129} A four-fold upregulation in the expression of these genes is indicative of increased chances of apoptosis due to cell damage. Table 8 has a list of differentially expressed genes with maximum fold-change occurring due to the combined effect of free-radicals and UV radiation exposure in a 3D culture system. The heat map generated to depict the gene expression change for this comparison is shown in Figure 15.



Figure 15: Heat Map for Effect of UV Radiation in Combination with Radicals: The heat map depicts the differential expression of 507 genes in cell cultured in the presence of radicals in combination with UV exposure.

Gene Name	Fold Change	Gene Function
CHI3L1	+4.98	Involved in defense against pathogens and/or tissue remodeling. Plays an important role in cellular response helping cells cope with changes in their environment. ¹²³
ARHGAP29	+4.59	Plays an essential role in blood vessel tubulogenesis. ¹³⁰
BCL2L11	+4.26	Induces apoptosis and anoikis. ¹³¹
RGS2	+4.06	May play a role in leukemogenesis and is involved in inhibition of the translation of mRNA into protein. ¹³²
SNED1	+3.76	Associated with islet cell tumor. ¹³³
QK1	+3.57	Codes for RNA-binding protein that plays a central role in myelinization. Regulates oligodendrocyte differentiation and maturation in the brain. Can act as a translational repressor. ¹³⁴
SLC16A6	+3.51	Responsible for catalyzing the rapid transport across the plasma membrane of many monocarboxylates. ¹³⁵
NUPL1	-4.22	Codes for a protein which is a component of the nuclear pore complex, a complex required for the trafficking across the nuclear membrane. ¹³⁶
UFM1	-4.32	Ubiquitin-like modifier protein which binds to a number of target proteins, such as DDRGK1. ¹³⁷
GNRH1	-4.34	It is associated with ovarian disease and myoma. ¹³⁸
ZNF786	-4.44	May be involved in transcriptional regulation. ¹³⁹
TAF9b	-4.48	Essential for cell viability and involved in gene regulation with apoptosis. ¹⁴⁰
CENP BD1	-5.14	Involved in DNA binding. ¹⁴¹
CCNL1	-7.37	Transcriptional regulator which participates in regulating the pre-mRNA splicing process during cell cycle. ^{142,143}

 Table 8: Differentially Expressed Genes with Maximum Fold-Change Due to the Combined

 Effect of Free-Radicals and UV Exposure

We processed the differentially expressed genes using IPA to understand the functional pathways they affected. Figure 16 shows selected pathways affected to a large extent from the UV exposure and the radicals. The majority of genes that changed were involved in the

cell cycle pathway followed by cellular assembly, DNA replication, DNA repair, and cancer. This can be correlated back to various studies conducted in the past which show that oxidative stress on cells induces DNA damage repair pathways, and if the damage cannot be repaired, pathways leading to cell apoptosis are initiated.^{124,125}





6 CONCLUSIONS AND FUTURE DIRECTIONS

We were interested in understanding the effects of various cell culture conditions on the gene expression profile of hMSCs. Our goal was to understand if the currently used conditions for cell culture affect gene expression of cells, since previous studies do not provide that information. We were specifically interested in understanding the effects of UV radiation, 2D versus 3D cell culture system, and free-radicals on the gene expression profile of hMSCs as a model system.

We conclude that, in both 2D and 3D systems, UV radiation alone does not cause significant changes in the gene expression profile. However, when combined with radicals in the 3D radical polymerization system, UV exposure causes relatively higher levels of change in gene expression as compared to the 3D encapsulation system that does not use radicals. We attribute this result to the fact that UV accelerates the production of free-radicals in the system, thus placing the cells under greater oxidative stress.

Another important observation is that the microenvironment of the cell plays a very important role in controlling its genetic expression. Our results showed that culture systems play an integral role in regulating the gene expression of hMSCs. 5164 genes had significant changes in their expression when we compared 2D system with the 3D systems (without radicals). We also saw 3030 genes with altered expression levels in between the two 3D systems- with and without radicals. These observations provide direct evidence that radicals in the system affect cells at the gene level. Across these multiple sample sets we were able to generate an enormous amount of data in the form of changes in gene expression levels of

thousands of genes. Our data will help us better understand the changes in functional pathways with differential gene expression.

Our aim for the scope of this project was to understand if these experimental conditions caused any changes in the gene expression of hMSCs. We were successful in concluding that the UV radiation used in tissue engineering applications does not cause any significant change in the gene expression of hMSCs under typical use. Additionally, culturing hMSCs in 2D compared to 3D systems leads to a significant change in the gene expression levels of hMSCs. We were also successful in demonstrating that, at the genetic level, radicals present in the system in combination with UV exposure causes changes in the expression levels of genes associated with immune response, apoptosis and cancer pathways.

Our future goals are to analyze the genes changed with these experimental conditions and understand their role in different functional pathways of cellular functions with assays such as reverse transcription PCR and western blots. The data generated by our experiments can be used in the future to understand the consequences of these conditions on particular pathways and also various other downstream effects caused by the gene expression change. Within the generated data set, there is a need to further analyze the data in depth and understand the exact consequences of the different conditions-whether they have a positive effect or a deleterious effect. It would also be interesting to understand the consequences of culturing cells in dynamic (degrading) systems and analyze cell recovery after the fabrication process.

Finally we conclude that the cell culture systems need to be designed keeping in mind the changes that may occur in the genetic makeup due to those processes. Additionally, UV

radiation used for experiments around cells does not play a significant role in changing the gene expression but a more thorough analysis of the microarray data is necessary.

7 **<u>BIBLIOGRAPHY</u>**

- (1) Naderi, H.; Matin, M. M.; Bahrami, A. R. J. Biomater. Appl. 2011, 26, 383–417.
- (2) Tibbitt, M. W.; Anseth, K. S. Biotechnol. Bioeng. 2009, 103, 655–663.
- (3) Petersen, O. W.; Rønnov-Jessen, L.; Howlett, A. R.; Bissell, M. J. Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. 1992, 89, 9064–9068.
- (4) Baker, B. M.; Chen, C. S. J. Cell Sci. 2012, 125, 3015–3024.
- (5) Gulrez, S. K.; Al-Assaf, S.; Phillips, G. O. Prog. Mol. Environ. Bioeng. Anal. Model. Technol. Appl. 2011, 117–150.
- (6) Drury, J. L.; Mooney, D. J. Biomaterials 2003, 24, 4337–4351.
- (7) Nuttelman, C. R.; Rice, M. A.; Rydholm, A. E.; Salinas, C. N.; Shah, D. N.; Anseth, K. S.
 Prog. Polym. Sci. 2008, *33*, 167–179.
- (8) Nguyen, K. T.; West, J. L. Biomaterials 2002, 23, 4307–4314.
- (9) Mather, B. D.; Viswanathan, K.; Miller, K. M.; Long, T. E. Prog. Polym. Sci. 2006, 31, 487–531.
- (10) Griffin, D. R.; Patterson, J. T.; Kasko, A. M. Biotechnol. Bioeng. 2010, 107, 1012–1019.
- (11) Liu, V. A.; Bhatia, S. N. Biomed Microdev 2002, 257–266.
- (12) Kloxin, A. M.; Tibbitt, M. W.; Anseth, K. S. Nat. Protoc. 2010, 5, 1867–1887.
- (13) Shamay, Y.; Adar, L.; Ashkenasy, G.; David, A. Biomaterials 2011, 32, 1377–1386.
- (14) Lu, S.; Anseth, K. S. J. Controlled Release 1999, 57, 291-300.
- (15) Minguell, J. J.; Erices, A.; Conget, P. Exp. Biol. Med. 2001, 226, 507-520.
- (16) Bryant, S. J.; Nuttelman, C. R.; Anseth, K. S. J. Biomater. Sci. Polym. Ed. 2000, 11, 439–457.

- (17) Nuttelman, C. R.; Tripodi, M. C.; Anseth, K. S. J. Biomed. Mater. Res. A 2004, 68A, 773–782.
- (18) Hess, M. W.; Pfaller, K.; Ebner, H. L.; Beer, B.; Hekl, D.; Seppi, T. *Methods Cell Biol.* **2010**, *96*, 649–670.
- (19) Benya, P. D.; Shaffer, J. D. Cell 1982, 30, 215–224.
- (20) Griffith, L. G.; Swartz, M. A. Nat. Rev. Mol. Cell Biol. 2006, 7, 211-224.
- (21) Yamada, K. M.; Cukierman, E. Cell 2007, 130, 601–610.
- (22) Nemir, S.; Hayenga, H. N.; West, J. L. Biotechnol. Bioeng. 2010, 105, 636–644.
- (23) Nicodemus, G. D.; Bryant, S. J. Tissue Eng. Part B Rev. 2008, 14, 149–165.
- (24) Lobo, V.; Patil, A.; Phatak, A.; Chandra, N. Pharmacogn. Rev. 2010, 4, 118–126.
- (25) Deshayes, S.; Kasko, A. M. J. Polym. Sci. Part A Polym. Chem. 2013, 51, 3531-3566.
- (26) King, W. J.; Jongpaiboonkit, L.; Murphy, W. L. J. Biomed. Mater. Res. A 2010, 93A, 1110–1123.
- (27) Dhariwala, B.; Hunt, E.; Boland, T. Tissue Eng. 2004, 10, 1316–1322.
- (28) Matsumura, Y.; Ananthaswamy, H. N. Toxicol. Appl. Pharmacol. 2004, 195, 298–308.
- (29) Fornace, A. J. Annu. Rev. Genet. 1992, 26, 507-526.
- (30) Huglin, M. R. Br. Polym. J. 1989, 21, 184-184.
- (31) Benoit, D. S. W.; Durney, A. R.; Anseth, K. S. Tissue Eng. 2006, 12, 1663–1673.
- (32) Bryant, S. J.; Durand, K. L.; Anseth, K. S. J. Biomed. Mater. Res. A 2003, 67, 1430–1436.
- (33) Burdick, J. A.; Anseth, K. S. Biomaterials 2002, 23, 4315–4323.
- (34) Yang, F.; Williams, C. G.; Wang, D.; Lee, H.; Manson, P. N.; Elisseeff, J. *Biomaterials* 2005, 26, 5991–5998.

- (35) Nuttelman, C. R.; Tripodi, M. C.; Anseth, K. S. J. Biomed. Mater. Res. A 2006, 76, 183– 195.
- (36) Black, I. B.; Woodbury, D. Blood Cells. Mol. Dis. 2001, 27, 632–636.
- (37) Knippenberg, M.; Helder, M. N.; Zandieh Doulabi, B.; Wuisman, P. I. J. M.; Klein-Nulend, J. Biochem. Biophys. Res. Commun. 2006, 342, 902–908.
- (38) Pittenger, M. F.; Mackay, A. M.; Beck, S. C.; Jaiswal, R. K.; Douglas, R.; Mosca, J. D.;
 Moorman, M. A.; Simonetti, D. W.; Craig, S.; Marshak, D. R. Science 1999, 284, 143–147.
- (39) Luria, E. A.; Panasyuk, A. F.; Friedenstein, A. Y. Transfusion (Paris) 1971, 11, 345–349.
- (40) Abdallah, B. M.; Haack-Sørensen, M.; Burns, J. S.; Elsnab, B.; Jakob, F.; Hokland, P.; Kassem, M. Biochem. Biophys. Res. Commun. 2005, 326, 527–538.
- (41) Pasquinelli, G.; Tazzari, P.; Ricci, F.; Vaselli, C.; Buzzi, M.; Conte, R.; Orrico, C.; Foroni, L.; Stella, A.; Alviano, F.; Bagnara, G. P.; Lucarelli, E. Ultrastruct. Pathol. 2007, 31, 23–31.
- (42) Chamberlain, G.; Fox, J.; Ashton, B.; Middleton, J. Stem Cells 2007, 25, 2739–2749.
- (43) Abdallah, B. M.; Kassem, M. Gene Ther. 2007, 15, 109–116.
- (44) Tuan, R. S.; Boland, G.; Tuli, R. Arthritis Res. Ther. 2003, 5, 32-45.
- (45) Miyanishi, K.; Trindade, M. C. D.; Lindsey, D. P.; Beaupré, G. S.; Carter, D. R.; Goodman,
 S. B.; Schurman, D. J.; Smith, R. L. *Tissue Eng.* 2006, *12*, 1419–1428.
- (46) Wolfman, N. M.; Hattersley, G.; Cox, K.; Celeste, A. J.; Nelson, R.; Yamaji, N.; Dube, J. L.; DiBlasio-Smith, E.; Nove, J.; Song, J. J.; Wozney, J. M.; Rosen, V. J. Clin. Invest. 1997, 100, 321–330.
- (47) Bellows, C. G.; Heersche, J. N. M.; Aubin, J. E. Dev. Biol. 1990, 140, 132-138.
- (48) Liu, F.; Aubin, J. E.; Malaval, L. Bone 2002, 31, 212-219.

- (49) Rose, F. R. A. J.; Oreffo, R. O. C. Biochem. Biophys. Res. Commun. 2002, 292, 1-7.
- (50) Brittberg, M.; Lindahl, A.; Nilsson, A.; Ohlsson, C.; Isaksson, O.; Peterson, L. N. Engl. J.
 Med. 1994, 331, 889–895.
- (51) Harrington, C. A.; Winther, M.; Garred, M. M. J. Ocul. Biol. Dis. Infor. 2009, 2, 243-249.
- (52) Liu, S. Q.; Tay, R.; Khan, M.; Ee, P. L. R.; Hedrick, J. L.; Yang, Y. Y. Soft Matter 2009, 6, 67–81.
- (53) Betz, M. W.; Modi, P. C.; Caccamese, J. F.; Coletti, D. P.; Sauk, J. J.; Fisher, J. P. J. Biomed. Mater. Res. A 2008, 86A, 662–670.
- (54) Feng, X. D.; Guo, X. Q.; Qiu, K. Y. Makromol. Chem. 1988, 189, 77-83.
- (55) Kinnaird, T.; Stabile, E.; Burnett, M. S.; Lee, C. W.; Barr, S.; Fuchs, S.; Epstein, S. E. *Circ. Res.* 2004, *94*, 678–685.
- (56) Tuyn, J. van; Knaän-Shanzer, S.; Watering, M. J. M. van de; Graaf, M. de; Laarse, A. van der; Schalij, M. J.; Wall, E. E. van der; Vries, A. A. F. de; Atsma, D. E. *Cardiovasc. Res.* 2005, 67, 245–255.
- (57) Janderová, L.; McNeil, M.; Murrell, A. N.; Mynatt, R. L.; Smith, S. R. Obes. Res. 2003, 11, 65–74.
- (58) Ringnér, M. Nat. Biotechnol. 2008, 26, 303-304.
- (59) Mendelsohn, C.; Lohnes, D.; Decimo, D.; Lufkin, T.; LeMeur, M.; Chambon, P.; Mark, M. Development 1994, 120, 2749–2771.
- (60) Holt, J. T.; Gopal, T. V.; Moulton, A. D.; Nienhuis, A. W. Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. 1986, 83, 4794–4798.
- (61) Bieller, A.; Pasche, B.; Frank, S.; Gläser, B.; Kunz, J.; Witt, K.; Zoll, B. DNA Cell Biol.
 2001, 20, 555–561.

- (62) Maus, U. A.; Wellmann, S.; Hampl, C.; Kuziel, W. A.; Srivastava, M.; Mack, M.; Everhart, M. B.; Blackwell, T. S.; Christman, J. W.; Schlöndorff, D.; Bohle, R. M.; Seeger, W.; Lohmeyer, J. Am. J. Physiol. Lung Cell. Mol. Physiol. 2005, 288, L350–L358.
- (63) Pallarès, I.; Bonet, R.; García-Castellanos, R.; Ventura, S.; Avilés, F. X.; Vendrell, J.;
 Gomis-Rüth, F. X. Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. 2005, 102, 3978–3983.
- (64) Werner, T. Curr. Opin. Biotechnol. 2008, 19, 50-54.
- (65) Jovov, B.; Araujo-Perez, F.; Sigel, C. S.; Stratford, J. K.; McCoy, A. N.; Yeh, J. J.; Keku,
 T. *PLoS ONE* 2012, 7, e30168.
- (66) Ra, S. H.; Su, A.; Li, X.; Binder, S. *Diagn. Mol. Pathol. Am. J. Surg. Pathol. Part B* 2013, 22, 41–47.
- (67) Cukierman, E.; Pankov, R.; Stevens, D. R.; Yamada, K. M. Science 2001, 294, 1708–1712.
- (68) Baharvand, H.; Hashemi, S. M.; Kazemi Ashtiani, S.; Farrokhi, A. Int. J. Dev. Biol. 2006, 50, 645–652.
- (69) Vaidyanathan, G.; Cismowski, M. J.; Wang, G.; Vincent, T. S.; Brown, K. D.; Lanier, S. M. Oncogene 2004, 23, 5858–5863.
- (70) Shindo, T.; Kurihara, H.; Kuno, K.; Yokoyama, H.; Wada, T.; Kurihara, Y.; Imai, T.; Wang, Y.; Ogata, M.; Nishimatsu, H.; Moriyama, N.; Oh-hashi, Y.; Morita, H.; Ishikawa, T.; Nagai, R.; Yazaki, Y.; Matsushima, K. J. Clin. Invest. 2000, 105, 1345–1352.
- (71) Freitas, V. M.; do Amaral, J. B.; Silva, T. A.; Santos, E. S.; Mangone, F. R.; Pinheiro, J. de J.; Jaeger, R. G.; Nagai, M. A.; Machado-Santelli, G. M. *Mol. Cancer* **2013**, *12*, 2.
- (72) Böttner, M.; Suter-Crazzolara, C.; Schober, A.; Unsicker, K. Cell Tissue Res. 1999, 297, 103–110.
- (73) Del Sal, G.; Ruaro, M. E.; Philipson, L.; Schneider, C. Cell 1992, 70, 595-607.

- (74) Ruminy, P.; Gangneux, C.; Claeyssens, S.; Scotte, M.; Daveau, M.; Salier, J.-P. *Inflamm. Res.* 2001, *50*, 383–390.
- (75) Wang, W.; Bergh, A.; Damber, J.-E. The Prostate 2007, 67, 1238–1246.
- (76) Nojima, M.; Maruyama, R.; Yasui, H.; Suzuki, H.; Maruyama, Y.; Tarasawa, I.; Sasaki, Y.;
 Asaoku, H.; Sakai, H.; Hayashi, T.; Mori, M.; Imai, K.; Tokino, T.; Ishida, T.; Toyota, M.;
 Shinomura, Y. *Clin. Cancer Res.* 2009, *15*, 4356–4364.
- (77) Santos, L. J. J.; Xing, C.; Barnes, R. B.; Ades, L. C.; Megarbane, A.; Vidal, C.; Xuereb, A.; Tarpey, P. S.; Smith, R.; Khazab, M.; Shoubridge, C.; Partington, M.; Futreal, A.; Stratton, M. R.; Gecz, J.; Zinn, A. R. *Hum. Genet.* 2008, *123*, 469–476.
- (78) Cleveland, B. M.; Evenhuis, J. P. Comp. Biochem. Physiol. B Biochem. Mol. Biol. 2010, 157, 248–257.
- (79) Kostek, M. C.; Chen, Y.-W.; Cuthbertson, D. J.; Shi, R.; Fedele, M. J.; Esser, K. A.;
 Rennie, M. J. *Physiol. Genomics* 2007, *31*, 42–52.
- (80) Suzuki, Y.; Landowski, C. P.; Hediger, M. A. Annu. Rev. Physiol. 2008, 70, 257-271.
- (81) Behrends, C.; Sowa, M. E.; Gygi, S. P.; Harper, J. W. Nature 2010, 466, 68-76.
- (82) Ferris, H. A.; Shupnik, M. A. Biol. Reprod. 2006, 74, 993–998.
- (83) Huang, W.; Kane, J. K.; Li, M. D. Biochem. Biophys. Res. Commun. 2008, 373, 653-658.
- (84) Lee, J. H.; Schütte, D.; Wulf, G.; Füzesi, L.; Radzun, H.-J.; Schweyer, S.; Engel, W.;
 Nayernia, K. *Hum. Mol. Genet.* 2006, *15*, 201–211.
- (85) Saulnier, P.-J.; Roussel, R.; Halimi, J. M.; Lebrec, J.; Dardari, D.; Maimaitiming, S.; Guilloteau, G.; Prugnard, X.; Marechaud, R.; Ragot, S.; Marre, M.; Hadjadj, S. *Diabetes Care* 2011, *34*, 1199–1204.
- (86) Karsenty, G.; Wagner, E. F. Dev. Cell 2002, 2, 389–406.

- (87) Liuksiala, T.; Teittinen, K. J.; Granberg, K.; Heinäniemi, M.; Annala, M.; Mäki, M.; Nykter, M.; Lohi, O. *Leukemia* **2013**, 250, 1-3.
- (88) Robbins, M. J.; Michalovich, D.; Hill, J.; Calver, A. R.; Medhurst, A. D.; Gloger, I.; Sims, M.; Middlemiss, D. N.; Pangalos, M. N. *Genomics* 2000, 67, 8–18.
- (89) Vincent, I.; Jicha, G.; Rosado, M.; Dickson, D. W. J. Neurosci. 1997, 17, 3588–3598.
- (90) Draetta, G.; Beach, D. Cell 1988, 54, 17-26.
- (91) Bernstein, C.; Bernstein, H.; Payne, C. M.; Garewal, H. Mutat. Res. 2002, 511, 145–178.
- (92) Svobodová, A. R.; Galandáková, A.; Sianská, J.; Doležal, D.; Lichnovská, R.; Ulrichová, J.;
 Vostálová, J. Arch. Dermatol. Res. 2012, 304, 407–412.
- (93) Tyrrell, R. M.; Keyse, S. M. J. Photochem. Photobiol. B 1990, 4, 349–361.
- (94) Vairapandi, M.; Balliet, A. G.; Hoffman, B.; Liebermann, D. A. J. Cell. Physiol. 2002, 192, 327–338.
- (95) Kramer, E. R.; Scheuringer, N.; Podtelejnikov, A. V.; Mann, M.; Peters, J.-M. *Mol. Biol. Cell* 2000, 11, 1555–1569.
- (96) Yu, H. Curr. Opin. Cell Biol. 2002, 14, 706-714.
- (97) Smith, D. F.; Galkina, E.; Ley, K.; Huo, Y. Am. J. Physiol. Heart Circ. Physiol. 2005, 289, H1976–1984.
- (98) Ahuja, S. K.; Murphy, P. M. J. Biol. Chem. 1996, 271, 20545–20550.
- (99) He, Q.; Zhang, P.; Zou, L.; Li, H.; Wang, X.; Zhou, S.; Fornander, T.; Skog, S. Oncol. Rep. 2005, 14, 1013–1019.
- (100) He, Q.; Skog, S.; Wang, N.; Eriksson, S.; Tribukait, B. *Eur. J. Cell Biol.* **1996**, *70*, 117–124.
- (101) Luster, A. D. Curr. Opin. Immunol. 2002, 14, 129–135.

- (102) Pacheco, P.; Vieira-de-Abreu, A.; Gomes, R. N.; Barbosa-Lima, G.; Wermelinger, L. B.;
 Maya-Monteiro, C. M.; Silva, A. R.; Bozza, M. T.; Castro-Faria-Neto, H. C.; Bandeira-Melo, C.; Bozza, P. T. J. Immunol. 2007, 179, 8500–8508.
- (103) Gottschling, S.; Saffrich, R.; Seckinger, A.; Krause, U.; Horsch, K.; Miesala, K.; Ho, A.D. Stem Cells Dayt. Ohio 2007, 25, 798–806.
- (104) Droin, N.; Dubrez, L.; Eymin, B.; Renvoizé, C.; Bréard, J.; Dimanche-Boitrel, M. T.;
 Solary, E. *Oncogene* 1998, 16, 2885–2894.
- (105) Ramachandran, C.; Rodriguez, S.; Ramachandran, R.; Nair, P. K. R.; Fonseca, H.; Khatib, Z.; Escalon, E.; Melnick, S. J. Anticancer Res. 2005, 25, 3293–3302.
- (106) Cao, C.; Ren, X.; Kharbanda, S.; Koleske, A.; Prasad, K. V. S.; Kufe, D. J. Biol. Chem.
 2001, 276, 11465–11468.
- (107) Xue, L.; Chu, F.; Cheng, Y.; Sun, X.; Borthakur, A.; Ramarao, M.; Pandey, P.; Wu, M.;
 Schlossman, S. F.; Prasad, K. V. S. *Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci.* 2002, *99*, 6925–6930.
- (108) Kang, M. H.; Reynolds, C. P. Clin. Cancer Res. 2009, 15, 1126–1132.
- (109) Chen, G. Q.; Zhu, J.; Shi, X. G.; Ni, J. H.; Zhong, H. J.; Si, G. Y.; Jin, X. L.; Tang, W.;
 Li, X. S.; Xong, S. M.; Shen, Z. X.; Sun, G. L.; Ma, J.; Zhang, P.; Zhang, T. D.; Gazin, C.;
 Naoe, T.; Chen, S. J.; Wang, Z. Y.; Chen, Z. *Blood* **1996**, *88*, 1052–1061.
- (110) Wisniewska, M.; Karlberg, T.; Lehtiö, L.; Johansson, I.; Kotenyova, T.; Moche, M.;Schüler, H. *PLoS ONE* 2010, *5*, e8625.
- (111) Galaup, A.; Cazes, A.; Jan, S. L.; Philippe, J.; Connault, E.; Coz, E. L.; Mekid, H.; Mir,
 L. M.; Opolon, P.; Corvol, P.; Monnot, C.; Germain, S. *Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci.* 2006, *103*, 18721–18726.
- (112) Tam, F. W.; Karkar, A. M.; Smith, J.; Yoshimura, T.; Steinkasserer, A.; Kurrle, R.; Langner, K.; Rees, A. J. *Kidney Int.* **1996**, *49*, 715–721.
- (113) Yada, H.; Murata, M.; Shimoda, K.; Yuasa, S.; Kawaguchi, H.; Ieda, M.; Adachi, T.;
 Murata, M.; Ogawa, S.; Fukuda, K. *Circ. Res.* 2007, *101*, 69–77.
- (114) Sheikh, M. S.; Hollander, M. C.; Fornace Jr, A. J. Biochem. Pharmacol. 2000, 59, 43–45.
- (115) Yoo, J.; Ghiassi, M.; Jirmanova, L.; Balliet, A. G.; Hoffman, B.; Fornace, A. J.;
 Liebermann, D. A.; Böttinger, E. P.; Roberts, A. B. J. Biol. Chem. 2003, 278, 43001–
 43007.
- (116) Grassian, A. R.; Metallo, C. M.; Coloff, J. L.; Stephanopoulos, G.; Brugge, J. S. Genes Dev. 2011, 25, 1716–1733.
- (117) Hsiao, S. P.; Huang, K. M.; Chang, H. Y.; Chen, S. L. Biochem. J. 2009, 422, 343–352.
- (118) Augert, A.; Vindrieux, D.; Girard, C. A.; Le Calvé, B.; Gras, B.; Ferrand, M.; Bouchet, B. P.; Puisieux, A.; de Launoit, Y.; Simonnet, H.; Lambeau, G.; Bernard, D. *Free Radic. Biol. Med.* 2013, 65, 969–977.
- (119) Semeralul, M. O.; Boutros, P. C.; Likhodi, O.; Okey, A. B.; Van Tol, H. H. M.; Wong, A. H. C. J. Neurobiol. 2006, 66, 1646–1658.
- (120) Shelton, R. C.; Claiborne, J.; Sidoryk-Wegrzynowicz, M.; Reddy, R.; Aschner, M.; Lewis, D. A.; Mirnics, K. *Mol. Psychiatry* 2011, *16*, 751–762.
- (121) Keizer-Gunnink, I.; Kortholt, A.; Van Haastert, P. J. M. J. Cell Biol. 2007, 177, 579–585.
- (122) Kerr, J. M.; Fisher, L. W.; Termine, J. D.; Wang, M. G.; McBride, O. W.; Young, M. F. *Genomics* 1993, 17, 408–415.
- (123) Coffman, F. D. Crit. Rev. Clin. Lab. Sci. 2008, 45, 531–562.
- (124) Tan, S.; Wood, M.; Maher, P. J. Neurochem. 1998, 71, 95–105.

- (125) Chan, P. H. J. Cereb. Blood Flow Metab. 2001, 21, 2–14.
- (126) Basu, A.; Drame, A.; Muñoz, R.; Gijsbers, R.; Debyser, Z.; De Leon, M.; Casiano, C. A.
 The Prostate 2012, 72, 597–611.
- (127) Gross, A.; McDonnell, J. M.; Korsmeyer, S. J. Genes Dev. 1999, 13, 1899–1911.
- (128) Yoshida, Y.; Tsunoda, T.; Doi, K.; Fujimoto, T.; Tanaka, Y.; Ota, T.; Ogawa, M.; Matsuzaki, H.; Kuroki, M.; Iwasaki, A.; Shirasawa, S. Anticancer Res. 2012, 32, 2301– 2308.
- (129) Chinnaiyan, A. M.; Orth, K.; O'Rourke, K.; Duan, H.; Poirier, G. G.; Dixit, V. M. J. Biol.
 Chem. 1996, 271, 4573–4576.
- (130) Herbert, S. P.; Stainier, D. Y. R. Nat. Rev. Mol. Cell Biol. 2011, 12, 551–564.
- (131) Schmelzle, T.; Mailleux, A. A.; Overholtzer, M.; Carroll, J. S.; Solimini, N. L.; Lightcap,
 E. S.; Veiby, O. P.; Brugge, J. S. *Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci.* 2007, *104*, 3787–3792.
- (132) Wang, H.-Y.; Liu, S.-X.; Zhang, M. Acta Pharmacol. Sin. 2003, 24, 646–650.
- (133) Lindskog, C.; Korsgren, O.; Pontén, F.; Eriksson, J. W.; Johansson, L.; Danielsson, A. J.
 Proteomics 2012, 75, 2611–2620.
- (134) Ryder, S. P.; Williamson, J. R. RNA 2004, 10, 1449–1458.
- (135) Visser, W. E.; Friesema, E. C. H.; Jansen, J.; Visser, T. J. Best Pract. Res. Clin. Endocrinol. Metab. 2007, 21, 223–236.
- (136) Prasad, M.; Bernardini, M.; Tsalenko, A.; Marrano, P.; Paderova, J.; Lee, C.-H.; Ben-Dor, A.; Barrett, M. T.; Squire, J. A. *Genes. Chromosomes Cancer* 2008, 47, 427–436.
- (137) Komatsu, M.; Chiba, T.; Tatsumi, K.; Iemura, S.; Tanida, I.; Okazaki, N.; Ueno, T.;
 Kominami, E.; Natsume, T.; Tanaka, K. *EMBO J.* 2004, *23*, 1977–1986.

- (138) Peterson, C. M.; Jolles, C. J.; Carrell, D. T.; Straight, R. C.; Jones, K. P.; Poulson Jr., A. M.; Hatasaka, H. H. *Gynecol. Oncol.* 1994, *52*, 26–30.
- (139) Thomas, J. H.; Schneider, S. Genome Res. 2011, 21, 1800–1812.
- (140) Frontini, M.; Soutoglou, E.; Argentini, M.; Bole-Feysot, C.; Jost, B.; Scheer, E.; Tora, L.
 Mol. Cell. Biol. 2005, 25, 4638–4649.
- (141) Sinzelle, L.; Izsvák, Z.; Ivics, Z. Cell. Mol. Life Sci. 2009, 66, 1073-1093.
- (142) Long, J. C.; Caceres, J. F. Biochem. J. 2009, 417, 15.
- (143) Muller, D.; Millon, R.; Théobald, S.; Hussenet, T.; Wasylyk, B.; du Manoir, S.;
 Abecassis, J. Br. J. Cancer 2006, 94, 1041–1044.